
VILLAGE OF WAUNAKEE / TOWN OF WESTPORT
JOINT PLAN COMMISSION

Town of Westport Community Room 5387 Mary Lake Road
December 14, 2021 6:00 PM

Agendas may change prior to the commencement of the meeting. 
Please check the posting board at the Village Hall, 500 W. Main Street,

Waunakee, Wisconsin for the current agenda.

AGENDA

CALL TO ORDER

ROLL CALL: Ken Sipsma, Dean Groskopf, Eileen Bruskewitz, Brian Malich, Brian 
Wallace, Kevin Phelps

MINUTES

1 November 9, 2021

PUBLIC COMMENT

OLD BUSINESS

1 Public Hearing & Discussion/Action on Request by Forward Development 
Group for an Amendment to the General Development Plan of the 
Woodland Crest Plat to Allow Multi-Family Residential on Outlot 1 at the 
Corner of Peaceful Valley Parkway & Simon Crestway

NEW BUSINESS

1 Initial Consult – Possible Comprehensive Plan Amendment

ADJOURN

Any person who has a qualifying disability as defined by the Americans with Disabilities Act that requires the meeting or materials at the meeting to 
be in an accessible location or format should contact the municipal clerk at (608) 850-8500, 500 West Main Street, Waunakee, Wisconsin, at least 
twenty-four hours prior to the commencement of the meeting so that any necessary arrangements can be made to accommodate each request.

VILLAGE OF WAUNAKEE BOARD AND PLAN COMMISSION MEETING
TOWN OF WESTPORT BOARD AND PLAN COMMISSION MEETING

Notice is hereby given that the Village or Town Board or Village or Town Plan Commission may attend this meeting. No action will be taken by the 
Village or Town Board or Village or Town Plan Commission at this meeting.

Next scheduled meeting is 1/11/2022 6:00:00 PM.



VILLAGE OF WAUNAKEE 
JOINT PLAN COMMISSION MEETING 

Town of Westport Community Room, 5387 Mary Lake Road 
November 9, 2021, 6:00 PM 

 
Meeting Minutes 

 
CALL TO ORDER 
The meeting was called to order by Ken Sipsma at 6:00 p.m. 
 
ROLL CALL:   
 
Present:  Ken Sipsma, Dean Grosskopf, Eileen Bruskewitz, Brian Malich, Brian Wallace 
 
Absent:  Kevin Phelps 
 
Also Present:  Tom Wilson, Tim Semmann, Tracy Meinholz, Brad Kerl, Jamie Endres-Kerl, Tom Ensign, 
John Cuccia. 
 
MINUTES 
 
1 October 12, 2021  

Motion Grosskopf, second Malich, to approve the minutes from the October 12, 2021, Joint Plan 
Commission meeting as presented. Motion carried. 
 

 
PUBLIC COMMENT:  None 
 
PUBLIC HEARINGS 
  
1 Initial Consultation, Residential Lot Split, Ensign, 5739 Emerald Grove Lane, Town of 

Westport 
The Owner would like to split his 5-acre lot in half for another residential property.  At one 
point, there were 6 approximately 5 acre lots on Emerald Grove Lane.  Three of those have now 
been split into approximate 2.5 acre lots over the years.  Only the Ensign lot, the Curry lot just 
south of Ensigns, and the church lot have not been split.  The applicant has proposed a new 
driveway off Woodland Drive. Village and Town staff will need to review this request as there 
is currently a No Vehicular Access restriction on this portion of Woodland Drive. Sewer and 
water are also a discussion item since it may now be available from the Village.  The property 
is zoned County RH-2 and would need to be rezoned to ER-1 because of the 4-acre minimum 
lot size in RH-2. The Westport Plan Commission expressed concerns with the driveway access 
onto Woodland. The JPC members expressed similar concerns. No formal action taken. 

 
ADJOURN 
Motion Malich, second Bruskewitz, to adjourn the meeting at 6:38 p.m. Motion carried. 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted: 
Tracy Meinholz, Plan Commission Secretary 

Page 1 of 1



JOINT PLAN COMMISSION SUMMARY SHEET

MEETING DATE: 12/14/2021

ITEM: PUBLIC HEARING

TITLE: Public Hearing & Discussion/Action on Request by Forward Development Group for an 
Amendment to the General Development Plan of the Woodland Crest Plat to Allow Multi-Family 
Residential on Outlot 1 at the Corner of Peaceful Valley Parkway & Simon Crestway (Item for 
Recommendation to the Village Board)

ISSUE SUMMARY:  The applicant is requesting an amendment to the Woodland Crest GDP 
that would allow the development of a three-story 78-unit MF building and associated amenities 
on Outlot 1 of the plat of Woodland Crest (NW corner of Simon Crestway & Peaceful Valley 
Parkway).  Residential uses are currently not permitted per the GDP.  The overall residential 
unit density on the site is anticipated to be approximately 30 dwelling units per acre, with the 
unit mix as follows:

 24 - Studio Units (approximately 500 SF)
 27 - One Bedroom Units (approximately 725 SF to 825 SF)
 27 – One Bedroom, plus Den and Two Bedroom Units (approximately 1,050 SF to 1,200 

SF)

Primary access to the site will be from Simon Crestway and secondary access will be from a 
right-in/right-out driveway to the west-bound lanes of Peaceful Valley Parkway.  Additional 
access to and from the site will be provided via an interconnected network of drive aisles with 
the commercial lots to the north and west of this site.

The R-5 Multifamily Residential zoning district is being used as a standard for evaluating zoning 
code modifications that would be necessary for the proposed development. No modifications to 
the R-5 zone district are proposed as part of this request.

The request to amend the GDP to allow multi-family residential use on this lot is consistent with 
the comprehensive plan, which identifies this area within the ‘commercial’ use category. 
Language in the plan includes the following statement: ‘Land uses within Commercial Planning 
Areas should be uses permitted in the Village’s C-1 and C-2 Districts.’ Multi-family residential 

Page 1 of 64



use is allowed as a conditional use within the C-1 District.  In addition, the proposed use and 
building massing is consistent with The Laurel at Kilkenny multi-family development located 
immediately southeast of this site on the south side of Peaceful Valley Parkway.  If the GDP 
amendment is approved, approval of a SIP would also be needed prior to commencement of 
construction activities.

To provide greater clarification when reviewing specific implementation plans for this site, staff 
recommends that the final form of the GDP be amended to include only those items relevant to 
provide the regulatory framework from which a SIP will be evaluated for this parcel.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends conditional approval of the proposed 
Amendment to the General Development Plan of the Woodland Crest Plat subject to all 
outstanding staff concerns being addressed to the satisfaction of the Community Development 
Director and Village Attorney.

RECOMMENDED MOTION: Motion to recommend conditional approval of the proposed 
Amendment to the General Development Plan of the Woodland Crest Plat subject to all 
outstanding staff concerns being addressed to the satisfaction of the Community Development 
Director and Village Attorney.

ATTACHMENT(S): Application materials, staff memos

FOR MORE INFORMATION CONTACT: tsemmann@waunakee.com  or  (608) 850-
2830

Page 2 of 64



 

1702 PANKRATZ STREET, MADISON, WI 53704 
P (608) 242-7779  •  TF (800) 446-0679  •  F (608) 242-5664 

WWW.MSA-PS.COM  

Page 1 of 2 
\\msa-ps.com\fs\Projects\1600s\1630s\1631\01631004\Documents\Task 107 Woodland Crest\Phase 2 GDPSIP 2021\Woodland Crest Phase 2 MSA memo 2021_12_6.docx 

 

Memo 
  

 

 To: Village of Waunakee Planning Commission 

 From: Jason Valerius, AICP 

 Subject: Woodland Crest Phase 2 GDP Amendment, Outlot 1  

 Date: December 6, 2021 
     
 

Request 

Applicant (Forward Development Group) is seeking amendment of the Woodland Crest General 
Development Plan (GDP) to add and establish development standards for Woodland Crest Outlot 1 (2.58 
acres).   
 

Consistency with Comprehensive Plan 

This site is identified in the Comprehensive Plan for commercial use, including “uses permitted in the 
Village’s C-1 and C-2 Districts”.  Residential use can be conditionally permitted in the C-1 district.  The 
Planned Unit Development District and the process for establishing the zoning rules that apply is similar to 
a conditional use permit and process, so residential use is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan. 
 
Proposed Variations from Conventional Zoning 

The focus of review for a General Development Plan is any proposed variations from standard regulations, 
to understand and evaluate the impacts of those variations. The applicant has revised the proposed project 
to reduce the number of units and the size of the building, such that it does not require any variations from 
the most applicable zoning district, the R-5 District. 
 
In brief, the revised proposal is for 78 units, 156 parking stalls, 42% open space, 41’ in height, and setbacks 
consistent with R-5 zoning.  I would advise that the GDP indicate that conventional zoning standards apply, 
including specifically the standards of the R-5 district, with one exception.  Because the Village has been 
consistently allowing for a different parking standard for multifamily housing than the ordinance currently 
requires (current requirement is 2 stalls per unit), I recommend that the GDP specify the parking standard 
to which other recent projects have been held: 1 stall per studio/efficiency unit, 1.5 stalls per one-
bedroom unit, and 2 stalls per two-bedroom (or 1-bedoom plus den) unit. This will allow for greater 
flexibility in final site design at the SIP stage. 
 
 
 

Page 3 of 64



Woodland Crest GDP amendment, Outlot 1 
December 6, 2021 
 
 

Page 2 of 2  
 

Procedural Needs 

The documents provided for proposed amendment of the Woodland Crest GDP need to be reconciled and 
combined with the adopted Woodland Crest GDP document. I recommend as a condition of approval at 
the Planning Commission stage that a suitable GDP document be prepared for Village Board 
consideration.  
 
Other Topics for Consideration at the SIP Phase 
 

• Applicant should work with adjoining property owners on pedestrian connections that connect 
effectively to those adjacent commercial uses, and also to reduce and control cut-through traffic 
through the west side surface parking.  Speed tables are suggested for consideration, at the north 
and south ends of the west parking area. 

• Indoor and outdoor bike parking/storage provisions should be specified 
• The architectural design and material selection proposed are consistent with a high-quality 

development.  The SIP submittal should include more detailed materials information. 
• A full landscaping and planting plan should be included in the SIP. 

 
Sincerely, 
MSA Professional Services, Inc. 
 
 
 
Jason Valerius, AICP   
Consultant Planner 

Page 4 of 64



  
  

 
RKS:tll\S:\MAD\1600--1699\1602\701\WRD\2021 Site Plan Comments\12 - Woodland Crest GDP Amend for Multifamily\SA comments 12.2.21 Woodland Crest MF.docx 

December 2, 2021 
 
 
Mr. Tim Semmann, Community Development Director 
Village of Waunakee 
500 West Main Street 
P.O. Box 100 
Waunakee, WI 53597 
 
Re: Woodland Crest Multifamily Site 
 Concept Plan–Revisions 
 Village of Waunakee, Wisconsin (Village) 
 
Dear Tim, 
 
Forward Development Group (FDG) has provided revised conceptual site layout and building 
elevations for what is now proposed as a 78-unit apartment building on Outlot 1 of the 
Woodland Crest plat. FDG plans to request an amendment to the current General Development Plan 
for the Woodland Crest–Planned Unit Development (PUD) to include this outlot, along with the 
parcels at the corner of Century Avenue and Peaceful Valley Parkway that are adjacent to Outlot 1. 
Strand Associates, Inc.® (Strand) has the following comments on the revised Outlot 1 site concept 
plan. 
 
Lot Size Considerations 
 
Using the Village’s R-5 zoning district as a guide, Strand compared the various lot requirements 
with the applicant’s plan. Strand feels the application should generally adhere to the R-5 zoning 
rules, despite having flexibility of the PUD zoning district.  
 
1. Lot Area–The lot size is 112,437 square feet. Village code requires 108,000 square feet of 

lot space for the proposed 78 units. It appears the required lot area of the Village’s R-5 zoning 
would be met by this plan. 

 
2. Front and Rear Yard Setbacks–The building setbacks to the front and rear yard are not 

dimensioned. The applicant should confirm the yard fronting Simon Crestway is at least 
30 feet, and the yard facing west is at least 40 feet deep.  

 
3. Side Yard Setback–For a structure greater than 35 feet tall, the side yard setback requirement 

of the R-5 district is 30 feet. There appears to be green area provided on the north and south 
yards of the building, but no dimensions were given. The applicant should confirm the 
proposed setback distances to the respective lot lines will be at least 30 feet.  

 

Page 5 of 64



Mr. Tim Semmann, Community Development Director 
Village of Waunakee 
Page 2 
December 2, 2021 

 
 

 
RKS:tll\S:\MAD\1600--1699\1602\701\WRD\2021 Site Plan Comments\12 - Woodland Crest GDP Amend for Multifamily\SA comments 12.2.21 Woodland Crest MF.docx 

4. Building Height–The Village’s ordinance requires buildings not exceed 45 feet in height, as 
measured from the foundation to the mean elevation of the roof gable. The building height 
appears to satisfy the R-5 requirement. 

 
5. Lot Width–The lot width required for R-5 is 80 feet, which is met by the proposed lot.  
 
6. Green Area–The R-5 zoning requires a minimum green area of 30 percent. A table discussing 

various space percentages was provided on page 6 of the FDG narrative, but it is not 
conclusive of whether this green area requirement would be met. The applicant should 
confirm it would meet this green area requirement. Green area is defined by the Village code 
as pervious surfaces covered with grass or landscaping and maintained as open space, and 
should not include things like patios and second floor decks.  

 
Parking and Circulation 
 
The only substantive changes to the parking and circulation plan is the number of parking stalls, 
which was reduced from 165 stalls to 156 stalls, following the reduction int the building footprint. 
Strict adherence to the Villages parking code would require 156 stalls, where applying the recently 
used modified parking formulas in the City of Middleton ordinance would require 119 stalls. While 
Strand feels there will be less than 156 stalls available on the site because of layout issues, it seems 
the site can easily meet the 119-stall requirement.  
 
As Strand has stated in prior letters, the access points to Peaceful Valley Parkway, Simon Crestway, 
and to developments on Lot 2 of Woodland Crest appear reasonable. As mentioned by the Village 
planner at a recent staff meeting, Strand agrees that two speed tables should be incorporated into the 
site plan for the west parking lot to keep vehicles at a reasonable speed through this linear lot. 
 
Utilities 
 
Restating a prior comment, the applicant should plan for a private boosted potable water system for 
the residents, as the upper floors of the building will be above the elevation the Village feels can 
have appropriate water pressure.  
 
Conclusion 
 
Strand feels contingent approval of the concept site plan, if granted, should include the following 
considerations. 
 
1. The applicant confirms the site yard setback requirements will meet the village’s R-5 

ordinance requirements. 
 
2. The applicant confirms that at least 30 percent of the lot be pervious type surfaces. 
 
3. The applicant provides boosted potable water via a private system to the apartment units 

with floor levels above 960 mean sea level. 

Page 6 of 64



Mr. Tim Semmann, Community Development Director 
Village of Waunakee 
Page 3 
December 2, 2021 

 
 

 
RKS:tll\S:\MAD\1600--1699\1602\701\WRD\2021 Site Plan Comments\12 - Woodland Crest GDP Amend for Multifamily\SA comments 12.2.21 Woodland Crest MF.docx 

4.  The applicant adds two evenly spaced speed tables in the drive aisles of the west parking lot 
when pursuing site plan approval.  

 
Please call 608-251-4843 if you have any questions. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
STRAND ASSOCIATES, INC.® 

 
R. Kent Straus, P.E. 
 
c: Todd Schmidt, Administrator, Village of Waunakee 
 Bill Frederick, Director of Public Works, Village of Waunakee 
 Aaron Jahncke, Village Engineer, Village of Waunakee 
 Tim Herlitzka, General Manager, Waunakee Utilities 
 Bryan Kleinmeier, Stafford Rosenbaum 
 Jason Valerius, MSA Professional Services 

Page 7 of 64



 

322 Moravian Valley Road, PO Box 70, Waunakee, WI 53597 

(608) 849-8111, Fax (608) 849-4109, www.waunakeeutilities.com 

 

 

 

To: Tim Semmann  

 Tracy Meinholz 

From: Randy Dorn 

John McLain 

 Tim Herlitzka 

RE: Woodland Crest Multi-Family GDP Amendment 

Date: November 30, 2021 
 

This memo provides comments for the Woodland Crest Multi-Family GDP Amendment submittal.  

 

• We would like to know the estimated electric load and transformer location.  We suggest 
the applicant contact John McLain, Electric Superintendent, at (608) 850-5450.   

• The applicant will need to pay the costs to extend power to the site and we will require the 
primary extension to be located in an easement.  

• We agree with the comments regarding water supplied above 960 mean sea level included 
in the March 31, 2021 Strand letter.  

• The utility offers a free New Construction Design Program for prospective building owners 
and developers, design professionals, and construction contractors to deliver high 
performance buildings that provide improved energy efficiency, peak load reduction, 
improved systems performance, and better comfort.  Energy savings are targeted by 
simulating incremental improvements of efficiency in lighting, HVAC, and other building 
systems. The program seeks to capture synergistic energy savings by encouraging the 
design and construction of buildings as integrated systems.  We encourage the applicant 
to contact Clint Cry, our Energy Services Manager at (608) 825-1756, to discuss details 
about the program.  Program information can be found here - 
https://www.waunakeeutilities.com/sites/waunakeeutilities.com/files/Waunakee_NewConst
DesignAssist_CutSheet_F_EconDev.pdf 

 

 
 
 

Page 8 of 64



1010 East Washington Avenue, Suite 202 

Madison, WI 53703-3130 

608 / 242 1550 

608 / 242-0787 fax 
www.graef-usa.com 

 
 

 

MEMORANDUM        

 
 
TO:  Tim Semmenn, Community Development Director 
  Tracy Meinholz, Engineering Office Manager 
  
 
FROM: Mary Kramer, Planner/Urban Designer 
 
DATE:  12.3.2021 
 
SUBJECT: Woodland Crest GDP Amendment No. 2  
  Outlot 1  

Waunakee, Wisconsin 
 
 
Approval Request: 
 
The applicant is requesting a General Development plan amendment for the 
development of Outlot 1 to multi-family residential use for a total of 78 residential units 
with below-grade and surface parking and open space. 
 
Project Information:  
 
The following comments in this memo are focused on the proposed site plan 
amendment to Outlot 1 as it relates to goals, standards, and guidelines outlined in the 
originally approved Woodland Crest General Development Plan and the Village of 
Waunakee’s joint Comprehensive Plan.  
 
Others comprising the Village Staff/Tech team will also provide additional review and 
comments pertaining to the site layout and grading, erosion and sediment control, 
stormwater management, utilities, lighting, traffic, vehicular access/circulation/parking, 
signage, and zoning. 
 
The following comments pertain to these areas: 
 

1. Vehicular parking 
2. Bike parking 
3. Site plan 
4. General architectural character 

 
 
 
 
1. Vehicular Parking (Pg. 5 and 6): 

Page 9 of 64



 

 

 -2- December 3, 2021 

 
Village of Waunakee  
 
Plan Commission Review and Comments 
 

A total of 156 parking spaces are proposed, both surface and below-grade.  A total of 82 
spaces are proposed below-grade.  Surface parking is proposed in two locations for a 
total of 72 spaces.  The application further also identifies 25% of the below-grade 
parking stalls are proposed to be designed for compact cars.  The total proposed rate of 
parking is 2.0 parking stalls/unit.   
 
The application further explains consistency with the joint Waunakee/Westport 
Comprehensive Plan and Woodland Crest General Development Plan.  In particular, the 
application identifies that the overall intent of Village PUD zoning is to encourage 
innovation in design while allowing for flexibility in development standards and to ensure 
high quality design and architecture.  The application continues to state the GDP for 
Woodland Crest “enables creative and flexible design.”  The original GDP also cites the 
intent to provide adequate vehicular parking areas while minimizing paving.   
 
With these statements in mind, a reduction in parking, below 2.0 stalls/unit, should be 
considered.  Studio, one-bedroom, and rental apartment units typically do not demand 
more than 1.0 stall/unit.  In practice, mix use development patterns typically aim to 
provide walkable communities that support a variety of transportation modes, with 
reduced and shared vehicular parking options.  
 
A 1.25-1.5/unit parking ratio should be considered to support the development goals of 
providing a variety of housing unit types and price points, including the need for rental 
housing – which typically demand less parking.  Reduced parking also supports the 
desire for innovative design and flexible development standards as outlined in Village 
PUD zoning.  A reduction in parking will also reduce the impact to adjacent lower density 
neighborhoods, demands on adjacent roadways, and site area proposed as paved.  This 
could allow for a shift to increase the amount of proposed open space.  The original 
GDP development guideline identifies the desire to design creative, useable outdoor 
spaces for active and passive recreation.  The original GDP further states a desire to 
promote walkability.  Reduced parking ratios support all of these originally outlined 
development and design guidelines.  
 
2. Bicycle Parking: 
Bike Parking and circulation is identified and described in the language of the original 
GDP in multiple locations, including bicycle rack example imagery.   Bicycle parking and 
bike storage are not mentioned in the “site access, circulation, and parking” section 
(page 5) of the proposed GDP amendment.  Nor is it shown in the proposed site plan. 
 
Bicycle parking and storage should be planned and proposed as part of the amendment 
proposal.  Bike parking supports the desire, as outlined in the joint Comprehensive Plan, 
for providing a mix of residential types to support multiple income levels and a variety of 
demographics by providing parking for different modes as well as for a mix of uses.  It 

Page 10 of 64



 

 

 -3- December 3, 2021 

 
Village of Waunakee  
 
Plan Commission Review and Comments 
 

also supports bike parking goals outlined in the original GDP.  And, finally, it will also 
enhance bike lane connections in and adjacent to the site.     
 
3. Site Plan: 
The proposed amendment site plan should be designed in direct relationship to the 
larger Woodland Crest Development Plan; and proposed roadways, pathways, access, 
circulation, parking, landscaping, and screening should complement what has been 
designed and developed in the contiguous sites to the north.  The amendment narrative 
(page 7) identifies the plan is consistent with the GDP original intent of designing 
sensitively to lower intensity neighbors.  Much of the plan sensitively designs proposed 
building footprints close to adjacent sidewalks and streets, which enhances the 
pedestrian and mixed-use experience.  It also locates the majority of surface parking 
towards the center of the proposed site, also enhancing the pedestrian and mixed-use 
experience.  Bicycle parking and trash enclosures should be properly planned and 
identified.  Trash enclosures should be designed not to interfere with proposed vehicular, 
bicycle, and pedestrian circulation.  
 
4. General Architectural Character: 
Basic building architecture and design parameters were set as part of the original GDP.  
In particular, large, blank, unarticulated wall expanses are to be avoided.  It further 
encourages architectural styles that are complementary to other adjacent development 
sites, by using prairie-style treatments and an earth-tone color palette.  The proposed 
Outlot design amendment appears to honor the character as outlined in the original 
GDP.  

 
Additional Observations and Comments 

 
(1) There are no details for any proposed signage, besides what’s shown in the 

proposed perspective drawing. Any proposed signage will need to be 
consistent with previously approved GDP standards and the Village Code 
and Standards, and submitted for review and approved by staff.  

(2) There are no details for site and exterior lighting. Any proposed lighting will 
need to be consistent with the Village Code and Standards, consistent with 
Dark Sky Standards, and be submitted for review and approved by staff.  

 
 
Recommendations: 
 
We recommend conditional approval of the proposed Woodland Crest GDP Amendment 
No. 2.  

Page 11 of 64



 

 

 -4- December 3, 2021 

 
Village of Waunakee  
 
Plan Commission Review and Comments 
 

It is our recommendation that the proposed plan reconsider smaller parking ratios, 
adequately plan and design bicycle parking, and provide detailed signage and lighting 
plans.   
 
End of Memo  

Page 12 of 64



1

Tracy Meinholz

From: Tom Wilson <twilson@townofwestport.org>
Sent: November 29, 2021 8:45 AM
To: Tracy Meinholz
Cc: Tim Semmann; kevin@engineersolutions.org; Tom Wilson
Subject: RE: November 29th Tech Staff Meeting

Just on the multi‐family in FDG development correct?  Or is there something else we need on the agenda for December. 
 
I only have two comments to provide, but I did send on to Kevin as well. 
 

1. Recall that the developer signed an agreement to comply with all Village ordinances so no need to give variances 
for heights or anything else, unless the Village sees a need to do so. 

2. Recall that the Town JPC members expressed concern about planning this multi‐family site without a plan for 
the mult‐family/commercial site across the street.  The concern was what is planned here will carry over to what 
is proposed and expected across the street. 

 
Thanks for the invite Tracy but as long as these two comments are noted, I wouldn’t have much more to add.  The 
development is planned for the Village and in the Village, so I am sure our Town members will give deference to the 
Village Plan Commissioners, but at least the two concerns should be addressed.    
 
T  
 

From: Tracy Meinholz <tmeinholz@waunakee.com>  
Sent: Monday, November 29, 2021 8:32 AM 
To: Tom Wilson <twilson@townofwestport.org> 
Subject: FW: November 29th Tech Staff Meeting 
 
Tom, 
 
Just realized I didn’t send you the Tech Staff invite for today. SORRY! (see below) 
 
 
 

Be Safe. Stay Well. 
 

Tracy Meinholz 
Community Development & Public Works Office Manager 
 

 
Village of Waunakee 
500 W. Main Street 
P.O. Box 100 
Waunakee, WI  53597 

Page 13 of 64



2

(608) 849‐5712 
www.waunakee.com 
 
 

From: Tracy Meinholz  
Sent: November 19, 2021 8:23 AM 
To: Aaron Jahncke <ajahncke@waunakee.com>; Adam Kreitzman <akreitzman@waunakeepd.org>; Bill Frederick 
<bfrederick@waunakee.com>; Brian Adler (waunakeefire@tds.net) <waunakeefire@tds.net>; Bryan Kleinmaier 
(bkleinmaier@staffordlaw.com) <bkleinmaier@staffordlaw.com>; Caitlin Stene <cstene@waunakee.com>; Chris Zellner 
<czellner@waunakee.com>; Clint Cry (ccry@wppienergy.org) <ccry@wppienergy.org>; Curt Sauser‐MMSD 
<curts@madsewer.org>; Dave Kopp <dkopp@meffertoil.com>; 'Guttenberg, Randy' 
<rguttenberg@waunakee.k12.wi.us>; Jason Valerius (jvalerius@msa‐ps.com) <jvalerius@msa‐ps.com>; John McLain 
<jmclain@waunakeeutilities.com>; Kent Straus (Kent.Straus@Strand.com) <Kent.Straus@Strand.com>; Randy Dorn 
<rdorn@waunakeeutilities.com>; Rick Moran <rmoran@waunakee.com>; Scott Russell (srussell@waems.net) 
<srussell@waems.net>; Sue Mcdade <smcdade@waunakee.com>; Tim Herlitzka (therlitzka@waunakeeutilities.com) 
<therlitzka@waunakeeutilities.com>; Tim Semmann <tsemmann@waunakee.com>; Todd Schmidt 
<tschmidt@waunakee.com>; Kramer, Mary <Mary.Kramer@graef‐usa.com>; Freer, Ed (Ed.Freer@graef‐usa.com) 
<ed.freer@graef‐usa.com> 
Subject: November 29th Tech Staff Meeting 
 

Tech Staff Members: 
 
NEXT MEETING:  MONDAY, NOVEMBER 29, 2021 AT 1:30 P.M. VIA ZOOM (LINK BELOW) 
 
JOIN ZOOM MEETING: 
Topic: Tech Staff 
Time: Nov 29, 2021 01:30 PM Central Time (US and Canada) 
 
Join Zoom Meeting 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83211275232?pwd=bHhvbFVtOWZRcDlzWHhUemJpRFFEUT09 
 
Meeting ID: 832 1127 5232 
Passcode: 777139 
One tap mobile 
+13017158592,,83211275232#,,,,*777139# US (Washington DC) 
+13126266799,,83211275232#,,,,*777139# US (Chicago) 
 

 
LINK TO SUBMITTALS: 

 11.29.21 
 
 
PLEASE PROVIDE COMMENTS ON THE FOLLOWING: 

1) Woodland Crest GDP Amendment for Multi-Family on Outlot 1 
2) Airport Overlay District PH 

 
APPOINTMENTS:   
None 
 
COMMENTS DUE: Friday, December 3, 2021. 

Page 14 of 64



3

 
 
 
 Be Safe. Stay Well. 
 

Tracy Meinholz 
Community Development & Public Works Office Manager 
 

 
Village of Waunakee 
500 W. Main Street 
P.O. Box 100 
Waunakee, WI  53597 
(608) 849‐5712 
www.waunakee.com 
 
 

Page 15 of 64



September 16, 2021, Rev. November 18, 2021 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Prepared for: 
 
 

 
 

 
 

161 Horizon Drive, Suite 101A 
Verona, WI 53593 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Prepared by: 

 
 
 
 
 
 

161 Horizon Drive, Suite 101 
Verona, WI 53593 

 Woodland Crest GDP Amendment No. 2  
  

Woodland Crest Multi-Family 

Page 16 of 64



Page 2 
Village of Wanakee 
Woodland Crest General Development Plan, Amendment No. 1 
Woodland Crest Multi-Family 
September 16, 2021 
Rev. November 18, 2021 

 

 

Introduction 
 
On behalf of Forward Development Group, LLC (FDG), JSD Professional Services, Inc. (JSD) is requesting to 
present a Woodland Crest General Development Plan Amendment for the development of Outlot 1 (aka Woodland 
Crest Multi-Family) to the Plan Commission at its December 13, 2021, regular meeting. The proposed amendment 
to the Woodland Crest General Development Plan is specifically related to the development of Outlot 1 as a multi-
family residential land use.  
 
It is our understanding that the next step in the entitlement process would include a Specific Implementation Plan 
rezoning request that establishes the specific site plan and design details for the Woodland Crest Multi-Family 
development, including details for architecture, landscaping, and open space amenities. 
 
Project Site Background and Location  
 
The project site is located at the southeast corner of the intersection of Peaceful Valley Parkway and Simon 
Crestway and is comprised of roughly 2.58 acres, as depicted on the map below.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Planning efforts for the Woodland 
Crest General Development Plan 
(Woodland Crest GDP) have been 
ongoing since 2009. The intent of the 
Woodland Crest GDP is to create a 
mixed-use neighborhood center 
comprised of retail and service-
oriented businesses and supporting 
multi-family and senior residential land 
uses. The 2019 Woodland Crest GDP 
Master Plan conceptually planned for 
approximately 100 residential units of 
an attached senior housing product 
type on OL1. While not a senior 
housing development, the proposed 
multi-family development is consistent 
with the general intent of the original 
Woodland Crest GDP to provide 
residential land use on OL 1. 
 

The Woodland Crest GDP was 
recently amended to include Lots 1 
and 2 of CSM 4619, the two lots 
adjacent to the project site on the west, fronting CTH Q. This area is known as Woodland Crest Commercial Phase 
2. 

 
As part of the overall mass grading for the initial development within Woodland Crest GDP, the project site was 

graded and restored in 2019/2020 as part of the. See Attachment A: Existing Conditions and Legal Description 

for details. Today, the project site is pad ready with all adjacent roadways and infrastructure installed necessary to 
serve the project site 

 

Project Site Parcel Summary 

 Parcel ID No. Parcel Size Zoning Owner 

1 080917225501 2.581 acres A-1 Woodland Crest MF LLC 

Outlot 1 

2.58 acres 

Page 17 of 64



Page 3 
Village of Wanakee 
Woodland Crest General Development Plan, Amendment No. 1 
Woodland Crest Multi-Family 
September 16, 2021 
Rev. November 18, 2021 

 

 

Project Site Context 
 
Overall, the surrounding context can be characterized as mixed-use, with a variety of residential, both single-family 
to the east and multi-family to the south, as well as commercial development immediately adjacent to the north of 
the project site. The surrounding uses present both opportunities and constraints for the development within 
Woodland Crest. Existing residential, commercial, and institutional uses will serve as supporting uses to the 
proposed residential development, while the same will also require that special consideration be given to 
implementing design elements, including enhanced landscape and architectural design elements to ensure 
compatibility between nonresidential and residential uses. 
 
In addition to the synergy with directly adjacent existing and future commercial land uses, the proposed multi-family 
development of OL1 is also consistent with other neighboring multi-family development in the immediate area (i.e., 
The Laurel at Kilkenny). 
 
Neighborhood Outreach 
 
Given the development’s team commitment to being a good neighbor, and desire to collaboratively plan and design 
a development with the surrounding neighborhood that is both successful and compatible, the development team 
has hosted two virtual neighborhood meetings. The first was held on May 20, 2021 and the second on June 30, 
2021. While at both meetings the public comments offered were primarily focused on the proposed senior housing 
development of OL 2, the site to the east, across Simon Crestway, at a high level those comments could also be 
generally applicable to the proposed multi-family development.  
 
The following key issues were identified, including: 
 

• Proposed land uses are appropriate 

• Integration of the proposed buildings into the existing neighborhood with regard to building mass and scale, 
and 

• Providing an adequate buffer between single-family residential development and the proposed 
development. 

 
A Concept Plan was submitted to the Village on August 19, 2021, and subsequently reviewed by the Plan 
Commission on September 13, 2021, and Town of Westport/Village of Waunakee Joint Plan Commission on 
September 14, 2021. As part of the Commissions’ review of the Concept Plan, the following key issues were 
identified: 
 

• Although there was discussion regarding the recent amount of multi-family residential development within 
the Village, there was general support for the proposed multi-family land use, 

• The overall site configuration was found to be favorable with the majority of the building mass being pushed 
to the west, and 

• There was also general support for the proposed modern agrarian architectural theme. 
 

Market Support 
 
National trends for multifamily housing combined with the immediate need in the local market service area of the 
Village of Waunakee is the driving force supporting this project. As national market trends of inflated construction 
costs and the general shortage of household formation continues to grow, the need for alternate housing options is 
becoming more critical. These trends have been evident starting in 2019 and 2020 and continue to prove true in 
2021 and beyond. The Forbes Business Council published a notable article on March 4, 2020 titled “Why 
Demographic Trends Support Continued Multifamily Growth,” which discusses macroeconomic conditions driving 
the continued demand for increased multi-family opportunities. The key items as Forbes noted are summarized 
below: 

 

Page 18 of 64



Page 4 
Village of Wanakee 
Woodland Crest General Development Plan, Amendment No. 1 
Woodland Crest Multi-Family 
September 16, 2021 
Rev. November 18, 2021 

 

 

• The millennial home buyer (individuals born between 1981 and 1996) is arguably the most impactful 
demographic to the current housing environment. The “Millennial Shift” has resulted in delayed major life 
occurrences associated with homeownership. It is speculated that this is tied to high levels of debt, 
particularly student loans.  
 

• Generally stated and perhaps the most compelling data point is that many Americans simply cannot afford 
to purchase a home. Data demonstrates that median home prices are increasing much quicker than median 
income rates and a clear affordability issue is evident. It is taking many Americans longer to save up for a 
home purchase, and the alternative is renting.  

 
Similar trends are noted on a regional and local scale. The Village of Waunakee’s Housing Task Force Summary 
Report (dated July 29, 2019) advocated for an increased need for housing affordability. The Housing Task Force 
specifically identified the principles in which the report was based upon (see page 4, Executive Summary): 
 

1. Housing should accommodate workforce needs. 
2. People who work in the Village should be able to live in the Village. 
3. Housing strategies should address the needs of those who are currently underserved in the Village housing 

market.  
 
The Housing Task Force also indicated that the Dane County region as a whole has observed a decrease in the 
population of resident households earning 80% to 100% of area median income, meaning that a large portion of 
the population is not purchasing homes. It is also critical to note that data shows four out of five individuals working 
in the Village commute from other locations, indicating that the Village is not within budgets of most commuters. 
In summary, this data contradicts the guiding principles as identified by the Housing Task Force.  
 
We believe the market demand for multifamily housing is clearly evident in the Village of Waunakee, but the next 
question is the supply. Madison Gas & Electric records vacancy data for sixteen (16) communities in the Madison 
regional area, based on the areas they service. Per recent data documented through the second quarter of 2021 
(https://www.mge.com/customer-service/for-multifamily/multifamily-rental-vacancy-rates), vacancy rates for the 
overall Madison regional area indicate 4.84%. Vacancy rates in the Village of Waunakee show 2.07% (13 vacant 
units out of a total 626 units), which is notably lower than the Regional and National averages. In fact, oftentimes 
vacancy rates below 3% indicate a supply shortage and that the particular market can absorb additional demand 
from future residents. Furthermore, of the 16 communities serviced by Madison Gas & Electric, only two indicate 
lower vacancy rates than Waunakee. Additionally, a total rental supply of 626 units places Waunakee with the 
third lowest inventory of the total 16 communities (only to Cross Plains – 449 units, and Oregon – 61 units).  
 
It is evident that the local data is indicative of the National trends explained above. In addition to this information, 
extensive private market research was conducted by the development team and its property manager, 
exemplifying the great need for additional multifamily housing in the Waunakee market, specifically at the location 
of Woodland Crest. Not only does the multifamily land use fit into the context of the sites surrounding Woodland 
Crest (ex: The Laurel at Kilkenny), but it offers a complementary land use to the increased commercial 
development along this corridor of the Village. To echo the Village’s Housing Task Force, the vast majority of the 
employees that will be working at the newly established business within Woodland Crest (Hy-Vee, Noodles & 
Company, Sports Clips, Eno Vino, Shopko Optical, Sherwin Williams, etc.) will be living outside of the Village of 
Waunakee and commuting inward. It is the goal of the development team to offer a housing opportunity for these 
individuals that is directly adjacent to the commercial businesses and we believe our proposal accomplishes just 
that. 

 
The Woodland Crest Multi-Family - General Development Plan Overview 
 
Overall, the General Development Plan for the Woodland Crest Multi-Family is designed to be sensitive to the 
existing residential context, while also contributing to the vibrancy of a mixed-use center, including locating building 
mass away from lower density development, utilizing a building design and material palette that is human-scale, 
pedestrian oriented and that contributes to placemaking, incorporating an enhanced landscape design to soften and 

Page 19 of 64



Page 5 
Village of Wanakee 
Woodland Crest General Development Plan, Amendment No. 1 
Woodland Crest Multi-Family 
September 16, 2021 
Rev. November 18, 2021 

 

 

breakdown blank walls and building mass, and provide ample screening. Based on the proposed residential use, 
site access and circulation, and landscaping features, the development team believes the proposed multi-family 
development is consistent with the Woodland Crest GDP.   
 
While the original Woodland Crest GDP did not set any specific development standards for residential land uses, it 
did anticipate future multi-family and senior housing development to occur on both Outlots 1 and 2. The proposed 
Woodland Crest GDP Amendment is intended to provide specific development standards for the development of 
Outlot 1. Refer to Attachment B, Woodland Crest General Development Plan and Master Plan. 
 

• Permitted Uses.  
 

Overall, the development proposal is comprised of roughly 2.58 acres and 78 residential units. 
 

As proposed, the anticipated unit mix is as follows: 
 

− 24 - Studio Units (approximately 500 SF) 

− 27 - One Bedroom Units (approximately 725 SF to 825 SF) 

− 27 – One Bedroom, plus Den and Two Bedroom Units (approximately 1,050 SF to 1,200 SF) 
 

Overall residential unit density on the site is anticipated to be approximately 30 dwelling units per acre.  
 

• Site Access, Circulation, and Parking. The primary access to the site will be from Simon Crestway and 
secondary access will be from a right-in/right-out driveway to the west-bound lanes of Peaceful Valley 
Parkway. Additional secondary access points will be provided through the adjoining Lot 2 retail center to 
the north, as well as lots 1 and 2 of CSM 4619. The Woodland Crest plat established an access easement 
on the westerly portion of OL1 to facilitate vehicle circulation via a private shared driveway between OL1 
and Lot 2. As part of the Specific Implementation Plan process, specific shared access points and 
easements will be established to the development within CSM 4619.  

 
The proposed development will be served with both surface and below-grade garage parking. Surface 
parking is provided in two locations; one on the west side of the building along a shared access drive, and 
the second a lot located within the courtyard on the east side of the building that is accessible from Simon 
Crestway. 
 
The parking provided along the shared access drive is intended to be designed in such a fashion as to 
resemble an urban shared ‘complete street’ with perpendicular parking stalls, sidewalk, and active unit 
entries. The parking located along the shared access drive is comprised of 49 stalls. 
 
Comprised of 25 stalls, the surface courtyard parking lot is intended to provide visitor and future tenant 
parking. Below-grade garage parking includes 82 stalls, 25% of which are designed for compact cars.   

 
In addition, a 10-foot fire access lane, meeting fire department requirements, has been incorporated into 
the site design to ensure fire safety requirements are met.  

 

• Building and Architectural Elements. The building is planned to portray a “Modern Agrarian” architectural 
character with complimentary varied façade treatments. The building material palette is anticipated to 
include the following or similar materials:  
 

− Composite vertical and horizontal lap siding,  

− Simulated field stone/masonry accents,  

− Divided light windows,  

− Awnings, and  

− Foundation treatments in earth tones.   

Page 20 of 64



Page 6 
Village of Wanakee 
Woodland Crest General Development Plan, Amendment No. 1 
Woodland Crest Multi-Family 
September 16, 2021 
Rev. November 18, 2021 

 

 

 
Architectural detailing, including overed balcony spaces, and a conventional pitched roof with gable features 
will be incorporated into the overall building design to create articulation in the facades and reduce the 
overall mass and scale of the building.  
 

• Landscape. Landscape materials will complement the visual theme of the building and site. Plantings will 
be used to highlight and define the edges, appropriately screen adjacent land uses, enhance the social 
spaces, and provide privacy for first floor units.  Plant selection will emphasize native tree and shrubbery 
species when possible and where space permits. Perennial grasses and wildflowers will be used in accent 
beds and in layered arrangements to provide year-round visual interest and for screening building 
foundation walls.  
 

• Lighting. Recognizing that site lighting contributes to placemaking, as well as providing additional security, 
site lighting is anticipated to be provided in a few different forms, including pole mounted fixtures in parking 
areas, bollards along certain internal pathways and open spaces, and wall mounted fixtures to serve both 
as security lighting at building entries and as architectural accents. Site lighting is anticipated to be dark 
skies compliant consistent with Village zoning and building codes. Exact fixture locations and details will be 
provided as part of the SIP. 
 

• Amenities. Interior proposed amenities include but are not limited to: seating areas and an entrance lobby, 
a fitness center, a community room, heated underground parking, elevator, granite counter tops, full size 
washer & dryers in all units, high speed internet, and double vanity bathrooms. The programming for the 
exterior amenity areas is envisioned to include more passive recreation opportunities, including, but not 
limited to: social patio/courtyard space, grilling stations, a gas fire pit, bike parking/storage, key fab entries, 
and a bike repair station. 

 
Additional development specific land use details are provided in the table below. 

 
 
Refer to Attachment B, Woodland Crest MF General Development Plan Amendment and Attachment C, 
Sample Plant List for additional information. 

 
Consistency with the Waunakee/Westport Joint Comprehensive Plan  
 
As noted in the Waunakee/Westport Comprehensive Plan (the “Plan”), the project site is recommended for 
commercial use. In Chapter 5, page 75, the Plan notes that “In Town commercial areas as designated in this plan, 
multi-unit residential uses may be considered on a case-by-case basis, either as a stand-alone use or mixed with a 

Land Use Summary Table – Woodland Crest Multi-Family 
  Percent Total 

Site Area 112,437 SF (2.58 acres) 100% 

Site Paving  
(Paved areas) 

35,524 SF  32% 

Open Space  
(Including landscape areas, open areas, second 
floor decks, patios, etc.) 

47,903 SF  42% 

Building Coverage  29,010 SF  26% 

FAR 0.72 N/A 

Number of Units 78 N/A 

Parking 
(Proposed ratio 2.0 stalls per unit) 

156 
N/A 

Density  
(units/acre) 

30 units/acre 
N/A 

Page 21 of 64



Page 7 
Village of Wanakee 
Woodland Crest General Development Plan, Amendment No. 1 
Woodland Crest Multi-Family 
September 16, 2021 
Rev. November 18, 2021 

 

 

commercial use. The suitability of such use will be determined by site characteristics and the quality of the design. 
The applicant needs to demonstrate the safe provision of access, parking, and pedestrian routes and show how the 
residential use relates to other uses on that site or adjacent sites.” Generally, the community’s long-range plan 
envisions a transition from commercial along CTH Q to residential land uses moving east. The proposed multi-family 
residential land use within the Woodland Crest General Development Plan planning area is consistent with this 
vision. 
 
The proposed development is generally consistent with the following comprehensive plan goals and objectives 
related to housing and walkable neighborhoods, including: 

 

• Providing a housing choice that includes a range of dwelling unit sizes and price points that meet the needs 
of households looking for rental housing within the Village 

• Improve the availability of multi-family housing options in the southeast quadrant of the Village, as it aims 
to maintain a 75/25 mix of single family/duplex to attached-unit forms of housing. 

• Providing safe, convenient and efficient pedestrian and bicycle facilities in a residential neighborhood, 
connecting the site to other uses and area. 

• Create a safe, attractive and distinctive neighborhood. 
 

In addition, as noted in the Village’s 2019 Waunakee Housing Task Force Summary Report, there is demand, as 
evidenced by a growing population, for more and varied multi-family housing options. 
 
Consistency with Woodland Crest General Development Plan 
 
The intent of the Woodland Crest General Development Plan is to create a mixed-use neighborhood center 
comprised of retail and service-oriented businesses and supporting multi-family residential uses. In order to achieve 
the design intent of Woodland Crest, Planned Unit Development zoning is required as mixed-use development is 
not supported by the Village’s conventional zoning districts outside of the Village’s downtown area. 
 
The overall intent of the Village’s Planned Unit Development zoning is to encourage innovation in design while 
allowing for flexibility in development standards and to ensure high quality design and architecture. 
 
Specifically, the Planned Unit Development District for the Woodland Crest project enables: 
 

• Creative and flexible design to provide appropriate buffers and transitions between differing uses and 
development intensities; and 
 

• Reduce setbacks and lot coverage standards to develop a mixed-use, building forward, development and 
active streetscape. 

 
The proposed multi-family residential development is generally consistent with the Woodland Crest General 
Development Plan intent, given its: 
 

• Sensitivity to surrounding lower intensity development, including orienting the building internally to the site, 
away from the lower intensity single-family residential development located east of the project site,  

• Utilizing a building design and material palette that is human-scale and that reflects those of the surrounding 
development, and 

• Incorporating an enhanced landscape design to soften and breakdown blank walls and building mass, and 
provide ample screening. 

 
 
 
 

Page 22 of 64



Page 8 
Village of Wanakee 
Woodland Crest General Development Plan, Amendment No. 1 
Woodland Crest Multi-Family 
September 16, 2021 
Rev. November 18, 2021 

 

 

Rationale for PUD Zoning and Zoning Code Modifications  
 
Currently, the project site is zoned A-1 Agricultural/Holding. The proposed General Development Plan Amendment 
proposes to rezone the project site from A-1 to PUD in order to: 
 

(1) Expand the Woodland Crest General Development Plan Planning Area to fully incorporate the project site, 
and  
 

(2) To amend the Woodland Crest General Development Plan to allow for residential land uses as permitted 
uses within the Woodland Crest General Development Plan.  

 
As a base reference, the R-5 Multifamily Residential zoning district was utilized as a standard for evaluating zoning 
code modifications that would be necessary for the proposed development. No modifications to the R-5 zone district 
are proposed. 
 

Schedule of Completion  
 
The anticipated timeline is to complete the GDP/SIP entitlement process over the Fall of 2021 with a target 
construction start date in the Spring of 2022. 

 
Conclusion 

 
Overall, the proposed Woodland Crest Multi-Family project is generally consistent with the Village’s land use goals 
and policies, including those related to housing, land use as note below: 

 

− Providing housing opportunities for households and individuals with different needs and income levels 
within the Village; 

− Encouraging developers to integrate different housing types and levels of affordability; 

− Development will be generally compact, efficiently utilize land sand infrastructure; 

− Providing enhanced building design and landscaping along community entry corridors. 
 

FDG is committed to working with the Village to satisfy statutory and ordinance requirements for this project and to 
collaborate to reasonably address other development goals and policies for the community. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachments: 

Attachment A: Existing Conditions and Legal Description  
Attachment B:  Woodland Crest General Development Plan and Master Plan 
Attachment C Woodland Crest MF General Development Plan Amendment 
Attachment D: GDP Sample Plant List 
 

Page 23 of 64



Page 24 of 64



C
O

U
N

TY
 H

W
Y

 Q

D
O

LA
N

 A
V

E

E
N

D
R

E
S

 R
D

W O O D L A N D  D R I V E

P E A C E F U L  V A L L E Y  P A R K W A Y

C
O

U
N

TY
 H

W
Y

 Q

D
O

LA
N

 A
V

E

E
N

D
R

E
S

 R
D

W O O D L A N D  D R I V E

P E A C E F U L  V A L L E Y  P A R K W A Y

SI
M

O
N

 C
R

E S
TW

A
Y

S A R A H  L A N E

SI
M

O
N

 C
R

E S
TW

A
Y

S A R A H  L A N E

1

OL3

OL2
2

4

2A

2B 2C

3

C-STORE

FUEL PUMP CANOPY

STORMWATER

STORMWATER

STORMWATER

INFILTRATIONINFILTRATION

BI
O

-R
ET

EN
TIO

N

LAND USE SUMMARY
HY-VEE & C-STORE

GFA • 61,710 SF
LOT AREA • 453,121 SF (10.4 ACRES)

TOTAL PARKING • 338 STALLS
PARKING STALLS/1000 SF GFA • 5.4 STALLS
FAR • 0.14
OPEN SPACE • 185,425 SF - 41% 

MIXED COMMERCIAL

GFA • 28,921 SF
LOT AREA • 126,958 SF (2.9 ACRES)

TOTAL PARKING • 141 STALLS
PARKING STALLS/1,000 SF GFA • 29
FAR • 0.23
OPEN SPACE • 30,554 SF - 24%

MULTI-FAMILY HOUSING
GDP AMENDMENT 1

GFA • 82,335 SF
LOT AREA • 112,437 SF (2.6 ACRES)

TOTAL PARKING • 156 STALLS
PARKING RATIO • 2 STALLS PER UNIT
FAR • 0.72 
OPEN SPACE • 47,903 SF - 42%
UNITS • 78

*GFA : GROSS FLOOR AREA
*FAR : FLOOR AREA RATIO

STORMWATER
OUTLOT 2 • 395,590 SF (9.0 ACRES)
OUTLOT 3 • 53,074 SF (1.2 ACRES)

1

2

3

OL

MIXED COMMERCIAL
GDP AMENDMENT 2

GFA • 8,875 SF
LOT AREA • 46,720 SF (1.07 ACRES)

TOTAL PARKING • 57 STALLS
PARKING STALLS/1,000 SF GFA • 1.2 STALLS
FAR • 0.19
OPEN SPACE • 9,183 SF - 20%

4

WOODLAND CREST GENERAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN MASTER PLAN (AMENDMENTS 1 & 2)

NOTE: EXHIBIT INDICATES THE GENERAL DEVELOPMENT
PLAN LAYOUT. SITE PLAN DETAILS ARE SUBJECT TO
VILLAGE APPROVED SIPs.

WAUNAKEE, WI DATE:  11.18.2021

0 80 160 320

NORTH

Page 25 of 64



Page 26 of 64



Page 27 of 64



Page 28 of 64



Page 29 of 64



Page 30 of 64



Page 31 of 64



Page 32 of 64



Page 33 of 64



Page 34 of 64



Page 35 of 64



Page 36 of 64



Page 37 of 64



Page 38 of 64



Page 39 of 64



Page 40 of 64



Page 41 of 64



Page 42 of 64



Page 43 of 64



Page 44 of 64



Page 45 of 64



Page 46 of 64



Page 47 of 64



Page 48 of 64



Page 49 of 64



Page 50 of 64



Page 51 of 64



Page 52 of 64



Page 53 of 64



Page 54 of 64



NOVEMBER 17, 2021

WEST ELEVATION

ASPHALT SHINGLES

VINYL WINDOWS TYP.

COMPOSITE HORIZONTAL
 LAP SIDING

COMPOSITE VERTICAL 
LAP SIDING

ALUMINUM RAILING

41
'-0

" B
UI

LD
IN

G
 H

EI
G

H
T

M
EA

SU
RE

D
 F

RO
M

 1
ST

 F
LO

O
R 

TO
 M

ID
PO

IN
T 

O
F

TA
LL

ES
T 

RO
O

F

Page 55 of 64



Page 56 of 64



Page 57 of 64



Page 58 of 64



Page 59 of 64



Page 60 of 64



Page 61 of 64



Sample Plant List (including, but not limited to): 

 

 COMMON NAME BOTANICAL NAME 

OVERSTORY DECIDUOUS TREES  

 
Prairie Pride Common Hackberry CELTIS occidentalis 'Prairie Pride' 

 Swamp White Oak QUERCUS bicolor 

 Shademaster Honeylocust GLEDITSIA triacanthos 

 Redmond Linden TILIA americana 'Redmond' 

 Draves Honey Locust GLEDITSIA tricanthos 'Draves' 

 Royal Red Maple ACER platanoides 'Royal Red' 

 Red Sunset Maple ACER rubrum 'Franksred' 

 State Street Maple ACER miyabei 'Morton' 

 Espresso Cofeetree GYMNOCLADUS dioicus 'Espresso' 

 Autumn Gold Ginkgo GINKGO biloba 'Autumn Gold' 

 Whitespire Birch BETULA populifolia 'Whitespire' 

 River Birch BETULA nigra 

 New Horizon Elm ULMUS x 'New Horizon' 

 Siouxland Poplar POPULUS deltoides 'Siouxland' 

  
 
 

TALL EVERGREEN TREES  

 
Black Hills Spuce PICEA glauca var. densata 

 Serbian Spruce PICEA omorika 

 White Pine PINUS strobus 
 

  

ORNAMENTAL DECIDUOUS TREES  

 
Crabapple spp. MALUS spp. 

 Serviceberry spp. AMELANCHIER spp. 

 Hawthorn spp. CRATAEGUS spp. 

 Pear spp. PYRUS spp. 

 Japanese Tree Lilac SYRINGA reticulata 

 Fox Valley Dwarf River Birch BETULA nigra 'Little King' 

   

 

UPRIGHT EVERGREEN TREES  

 
Arborvitae spp. THUJA spp. 

 Juniper spp. JUNIPER spp. 

   

DECIDUOUS SHRUBS  

 
Dogwood spp. CORNUS spp. 

 Viburnum spp. VIBURNUM  spp. 

 New Jersey Tea CEANOTHUS americana 

 Winterberry spp. ILEX spp. 

 Little Devil Ninebark PHYSOCARPUS opulifolius 'Donna May' 

Page 62 of 64



 Wine & Roses Weigela WEIGELA florida 'Alexandra' 

 

Spring Red Compact Cranberrybush 

Vib.  VIBURNUM trilobum 'Spring Red' 

 Bloomerang Lilac SYRINGA x 'Penda' 

 Alpine Currant RIBES alpinum 

 Gro-low Sumac RHUS aromatica 'Gro-Low' 

 Purpleleaf Sandcherry PRUNUS x cistena 

 Barberry spp. BERBERIS spp. 

 Black Chokeberry ARONIA melanocarpa 

   

EVERGREEN SHRUBS  

 
Yew spp. TAXUS spp. 

 Juniper spp. JUNIPERUS spp. 

   

ORNAMENTAL GRASSES  

 
Korean Feather Reed Grass CALAMAGROSTIS brachytricha 

 Prairie Dropseed SPOROBOLOUS heterolepis 

 Flame Grass MISCANTHUS purpurascens 

 Indiangrass SORGHASTRUM nutans 

 Autumn Moor Grass SESLERIA autumnalis 

 Tufted Hairgrass DESCHAMPIA cespitosa 
 Northwind Switch Grass PANICUM virgatum 'Northwind' 
 Heavy Metal Switch Grass PANICUM virgatum 'Heavy Metal' 
 Dwarf Fountain Grass PENNISETUM alopecuroides 'Hameln' 
 

  

PERENNIALS  

 
Brown-eyed Susan RUDBECKIA triloba 

 Yellow Coneflower RATIBIDA pinnata 

 Coneflower spp. ECHINAEA pallida 
 Little Spire Russian Sage PEROVSKIA atriplicifolia 'Little Spire' 

 
Coral Bells Palace Purple 

HEUCHERA micranatha var. diversifolia 'Palace 

Purple' 
 May Night Perennial Salvia SALVIA nemorosa 'Mainacht' 
 Ornamental Onion spp. ALLIUM spp. 
 Sedum spp. SEDUM spp. 
 Sky Blue Aster ASTER azureus 
 False Blue Indigo BAPTISIA australis 
 Prairie Blazing Star LIATRIS pycnostachya 
 Fireworks Goldenrod SOLIDAGO rugosa 'Fireworks' 
 Daylily spp. HEMEROCALLIS spp. 
 Catmint spp. NEPETA spp. 

 

Landscape Design Intent – Example Images 

Page 63 of 64



 

 

 

 

Page 64 of 64



JOINT PLAN COMMISSION SUMMARY SHEET

MEETING DATE: 12/14/2021

ITEM: NEW BUSINESS

TITLE: Initial Consult – Possible Comprehensive Plan Amendment

ISSUE SUMMARY:  The Waunakee/Westport area has experienced rapid growth in the 
recent past in residential and non-residential sectors.  Lands within the Waunakee Business 
Park are filling up and local business owners have expressed a desire to expand within the 
area. In light of this, staff is seeking direction from the Commission as to the desire to amend 
the comprehensive plan, primarily focusing on the land use along the north side of STH 19 east 
of CTY Rd I that is currently identified as Rural Preservation.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: No direct action is needed; however, staff is looking for 
direction regarding the desire to move forward with a process to amend the 
Waunakee/Westport Joint Comprehensive Plan.

RECOMMENDED MOTION:  No action necessary.

ATTACHMENT(S): Comprehensive Plan Excerpts (Land Use Map, Implementation Chapter), 
Correspondence from Endres Mfg. Company

FOR MORE INFORMATION CONTACT: tsemmann@waunakee.com  or  (608) 850-
2830

Page 1 of 13



DATA SOURCES:BASE DATA PROVIDED BY DANE COUNTY.AERIAL PROVIDED BY THE USDA (NAIP 2015).DEVELOPMENT LIMINTATIONS ARE A COMBINATION OF WETLANDS, FLOODPLAINS, SLOPES GREATER THAN 12%, AND A 100-FT BUFFER AROUND STREAMS.

Printed By: aconverse, File: P:\1600s\1630s\1631\01631002\GIS\01631002_FutureLandUse_MB.mxd

Sk yview Dr

Blue R id
ge

Tr
l

Sc
hu

ma
ch

er
 R

d

Kopp Rd

Ken nedy Dr

S 
Ce

nt
ur

y A
ve

Tier ney Dr

Meffert Rd

Monto ndon Av e

N 
Sh

er
ma

n 
Av

e

Simon Crestway

Cuba Valley Rd

Ho
ga

n 
Rd

Wheeler Rd

Easy St

Westport Rd

N
Di

vi s
io

n
S t

E Main St

Cen tennial Pkwy

W Main St

Peaceful Valley Pkwy

Bong Rd

E Verleen Ave

Arb o retum Dr

Ri
pp

 D
r

N 
Ce

nt
ur

y A
ve

Nord Dr

Un iek Dr

Cobb le stone Ln

He
lle

nb
ra

nd
 R

d

Mary Lake
Rd

Hi
ck

or
y L

n

Pa
tto

n 
Rd

Riv
er 

Rd

Willow Rd

Blue Bill Park
Dr

Woodland Dr

Fifth St

So
ut

h 
St

N 
Ma

di
so

n 
St

Ra
em

isc
h 

Rd

S
Ho

lid
ay

Dr

S 
Di

vis
io

n 
St

Water Wh eel Dr

Mo
ra

via
n 

Va
lle

y R
d

Ol
d 

11
3 R

d

Ku
pf

er
 R

d

Bluebird
Tr

l

Gans er
D r

S Madi son St

¾%113

¾%113

¾%19

ßßQ

ßßI

ßßK

ßßI

U n iek Dr i v
e

M
ont on d o n

A ve

TO W N  O F  V IE N N ATO W N  O F  V IE N N A
TO W N  O F  W E S TP O R TTO W N  O F  W E S TP O R T

TO
W

N 
OF

 V I
EN

NA
TO

W
N 

OF
 V I

EN
NA

TO
W

N 
OF

 D
AN

E
TO

W
N 

OF
 D

AN
E

TO
W

N 
OF

 W
ES

TP
OR

T
TO

W
N 

OF
 W

ES
TP

OR
T

TO
W

N 
OF

 BU
RK

E
TO

W
N 

OF
 BU

RK
E

TO
W

N 
OF

 W
ES

TP
OR

T
TO

W
N 

OF
 W

ES
TP

OR
T

TO
W

N 
OF

 SP
RI

NG
F IE

LD
TO

W
N 

OF
 SP

RI
NG

F IE
LD

W
IN

DS
OR

W
IN

DS
OR

DE
FO

RE
ST

DE
FO

RE
ST

M A D I S O NM A D I S O N

E 0 1,400 2,800700
Feet

VILLAGE OF WAUNAKEE AND TOWN OF WESTPORTDANE COUNTY, WI

Village of Waunakee (Aug. 2016)
City/Village
Town
Joint Planning Area Boundary
Community Separation Zone
Railroad
Future Road (approximate)
North Mendota Parkway Corridor

FUTUREFUTURELAND USELAND USE(NORTH)(NORTH)

Print Date: 1/10/2017

V I L L A G E  O F  W A U N A K E E  A N DV I L L A G E  O F  W A U N A K E E  A N D
T O W N  O F  W E S T P O R TT O W N  O F  W E S T P O R T

C O M P R E H E N S I V E  P L A NC O M P R E H E N S I V E  P L A N

LEGEND
Future Land Use

Business Park
Central Business District
West Business District
Commercial
Mixed Use
Public & Institutional
Community Residential
Rural Residential
Parks, Open Space, Environmental Corridors
Rural Preservation
Development Limitation

The colored portions of this map comprise the combined PlanningArea of the Village and Town, including all lands within eachjurisdiction and the Village's Extraterritorial Plat Review Jurisdictionarea in the Towns of Springfield, Dane, and Vienna.

Page 2 of 13



83C H A P T E R  6    / /    I M P L E M E N TAT I O N

Chapter 6: Implementation
Chapter 6 outlines how the vision, goals, objectives, policies and programs of the plan will be implemented in everyday decisions 

and annual goal-setting and budgeting and how the plan should be updated and amended as necessary.

84 Guiding Decisions

86 Adoption, Amendments & Updates

88 Plan Consistency & Severability

89 Action Plan

Chapter  6 :

IMPLEMENTATION

Page 3 of 13



84 W A U N A K E E  -  W E S T P O R T   / /   C O M P R E H E N S I V E  P L A N

GUIDING DAILY DECISIONS
Responsibility for implementing this plan lies primarily 
with the Village and Town Boards, Planning Commissions, 
Joint Planning Commission and Village and Town Sta�.

Village and Town Boards

The Village and Town Boards set priorities, control budgets 
and tax rates, and often have the �nal say on key aspects 
of public and private development projects. The value and 
legitimacy of this plan is directly related to the degree to 
which Board members are aware of the plan and expect 
Village or Town actions to be consistent with this plan. Each 
board member should have a copy of this plan and should 
be familiar with the major goals and objectives described 
herein. The Village and Town Boards should expect and 
require that staff recommendations and actions both 
reference and remain consistent with this plan.

Village and Town Planning Commissions (PCs) and Joint 
Planning Commission (JPC)

Land use and development recommendations are a core 
component of this plan, and the PCs and JPC have major 
roles in guiding those decisions. PC and JPC members 
must each have a copy of this plan and must be familiar 
with its content, especially Chapter 5, Future Land Use. It is 
generally the responsibility of the PCs and JPC to determine 
whether proposed projects are consistent with this plan, 
and to make recommendations that are consistent with 
this plan. In cases where actions that are inconsistent with 
this plan are deemed to be in the best interest of the Village 
and/or Town, the respective PC or JPC should initiate e�orts 
to amend the plan to better re�ect Village and/or Town 
interests. This will help to reinforce the legitimacy of the 
plan as an important tool in Village and Town functions.

Other Village and Town Committees/Commissions
In some cases, particular initiatives and action items listed 
in this plan may be more appropriately carried out by 
another Village or Town committee such as the Waunakee 
Economic Development Commission or Town Historic 
Preservation Committee, or in cooperation with other units 
of government, business and service organizations, or non-
pro�t agencies.  In such cases, this plan should serve as a 
foundation for Village- and Town-related decision making.  
Village and Town sta� and o�cials should take an active 
lead role in sharing this plan with other organizations, 
communicating the intent of relevant objectives and 
policies.

Village and Town Sta�
Key Village and Town sta� have a signi�cant in�uence on  
the selection and completion of all kinds of capital and 
operational projects.  It is imperative that individuals in key 
roles know about, support, and actively work to implement 
the various strategies and actions in this plan.  Speci�cally, 
the following people should consult and reference the 
comprehensive plan during goal-setting and budgeting 
processes, during planning for major public projects, and 
in the review of private development projects:

• Town Attorney/Administrator/Clerk-Treasurer

• Village Engineer/Public Works Director/Zoning 
Administrator

• Village Building Inspector

• Village Finance Director

• Village Administrator/Economic Development Director

These key sta� members are expected to know and track 
the various goals, objectives, policies and actions laid out 
in this plan, and to reference that content as appropriate in 
communications with residents and elected and appointed 
o�cials.  All of the Village’s and Town’s contracted sta� 
should also be aware of the plan and the connections 
between the plan and Village projects. The purpose of 
this extra e�ort is to strengthen sta� recommendations 
and reinforce the plan as a relevant tool integral to Village  
and Town functions.

GUIDING DECISIONS

Page 4 of 13



85C H A P T E R  6    / /    A C T I O N  P L A N

GUIDING ANNUAL DECISIONS
To provide lasting value and in�uence, this plan should 
be used and referenced regularly, especially during 
annual goal-setting, budgeting and capital planning 
processes. To inform these annual processes, the Village 
and Town should each prepare, with input from their 
Plan Commissions, a concise Comprehensive Plan Annual 
Report that may include the following information:

• Action items in progress or completed during the 
prior 12 months (celebrate success!)

• Planning Commission recommendations for action 
items to pursue during the next 12 months.

• Recommendations for any policy or map 
amendments to the Comprehensive Plan.

The Action Plan at the end of this chapter should be 
updated on an annual basis. Completed actions should 
be celebrated and removed, while those actions not yet 
completed should be given new deadlines (if appropriate) 
and assigned to speci�c individuals, boards or committees 
for completion per the new schedule and Village or 
Town Board directive.  If the updated Action Pan is 
consistent with the goals, objectives, and policies of the 
comprehensive plan, updating the Action Plan should 
not require an amendment to the Comprehensive Plan 
and can be approved simply by Village or Town Board 
resolution.  

IMPLEMENTATION TOOLS

Many of the strategies identi�ed in this plan presume the 
use of existing Village ordinances and Village and Town 
programs.  The Town’s and Village’s key implementation 
tools include:

Operational Tools

• Annual Budget Process

Regulatory Tools

• Land Use Regulations (including zoning, land division, 
subdivision and extraterritorial land use controls)

• Site Design Regulations

• Building Codes (including plumbing and electrical 
codes)

• Erosion and Stormwater Ordinances

• O�cial Maps

Funding tools

• Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Districts

• Grant Programs

• General Fund Revenues

• Fees & Special Assessments

• Fundraising

• Room Tax Revenue

Page 5 of 13



86 W A U N A K E E  -  W E S T P O R T   / /   C O M P R E H E N S I V E  P L A N

The procedures for comprehensive plan adoption or 
amendment are established by Wisconsin’s Comprehensive 
Planning Law (66.1001, Stats.).  This comprehensive plan 
and any future amendments must be adopted by the Village 
and Town Boards in the form of an adoption ordinance 
approved by majority vote.  Two important steps must occur 
before the Village and Town Boards may adopt or amend 
the plan: the Planning Commissions must recommend 
adoption and the Village and Town must hold an o�cial 
public hearing.

It is assumed and encouraged that both the Town and 
the Village will work together on any amendments to the 
plan, and will each adopt the amendments.  It is possible, 
however, that either entity may at some point choose to 
amend a portion of the plan that does not directly a�ect or 
fall within the jurisdiciton of the other entity, for example a 
Village amendment to policies for the Historic Downtown 
area.  Any unilateral amendment to this joint plan should 
include a �nding that the amendment will not have a 
substantive a�ect on the other jurisdiction.  If approved, 
the amended portion should be provided to the other 
jurisdiction.

Planning Commission Recommendation
The Planning Commission recommends adoption or 
amendment by passing a resolution that very briefly 
summarizes the plan or amendment and its various 
components.  The resolution should also reference the 
reasons for creating or amending the plan and the public 
involvement process used during the planning process.  
The resolution must pass by a majority vote of the Planning 
Commission, and the approved resolution should be 
included in the adopted plan document.

Public Hearing
Prior to adopting this plan, or plan amendment, the Village  
and Town (either Village and Town Boards or Planning 
Commissions) must hold at least one public hearing to 
discuss the proposed plan.  At least 30 days prior to the 
hearing a Class 1 notice must be published that contains, 
at minimum, the following:

• The date, time and location of the hearing,

• A summary of the proposed plan or plan amendment,

• The local government sta� who may be contacted for 
additional information,

• Where to inspect and how to obtain a copy of the 
proposed plan or amendment before the hearing.

The notice should also provide a method for submitting 
written comments, and those comments should be read 
or summarized at the public hearing.

Draft Distribution and Public Hearing Noti�cations
The Village and Town are required to provide direct notice 
of the public hearing to all of the following as they apply 
to the municipal limits:

• An operator who has obtained, or made application for, 
a permit that is described under s. 295.12(3)(d).

• A person who has registered a marketable nonmetallic 
mineral deposit under s. 295.20.

• Any other property owner or leaseholder who has an 
interest in property pursuant to which the person may 
extract nonmetallic mineral resources, if the property 
owner or leaseholder requests in writing that the 
local government unit provide the property owner or 
leaseholder notice of the hearing.

• Any individuals who request, in writing, noti�cation of 
the proposed comprehensive plan ordinance or public 
hearing.  Each such individual must be sent a notice of 
the public hearing and a copy of the ordinance at least 
30 days prior to the public hearing.  The Village and 
Town may charge a fee equal to the cost of providing 
such notice and copy.

Finally, the Village and Town should send the notice and a 
copy of the proposed plan, or plan amendment, to the Plan 
Distribution List (see below). These draft distributions are 
not required by statute prior to adoption, but are strongly 
recommended as a matter of courtesy and good planning 
practice. The Village and Town should coordinate directly 
with the Waunakee Public Library to make a copy of the 
proposed plan, or plan amendment, available for viewing 
by any interested party.

Plan Adoption
This plan and any future amendments become o�cial Village 
and Town policy when the Village and Town Board each 
pass, by a majority vote of all elected members, an adoption 
ordinance. The Village or Town Boards may choose to revise 
the plan after it has been recommended by the Planning 

ADOPTION,  AMENDMENTS 
&  UPDATES

Page 6 of 13



87C H A P T E R  6    / /    A C T I O N  P L A N

Commission and after the public hearing. It is not a legal 
requirement to consult with the Planning Commission 
on such changes prior to adoption, but, depending on 
the signi�cance of the revision, such consultation may be 
advisable.  

Adopted Plan Distribution
Following �nal adoption of this plan, and again following 
any amendments to the plan, a copy of the plan or 
amendment must be sent to each of the following:

1. Every governmental body that is located in whole or 
in part within the boundaries of the Village and Town, 
including any school district, sanitary district, or other 
special district.

2. The clerk of every town, city, village, and county that 
borders the Village and Town.

3. The regional planning commission in which the Village 
and Town are located.

4. The public library that serves the area in which the Village  
and Town are located.

5. The Comprehensive Planning Program at the Department 
of Administration. 

Plan Amendment vs. Plan Update
From time to time the Village and/or Town may be faced 
with an opportunity, such as a development proposal, that 
does not �t the plan but is widely viewed to be appropriate 
for the Village and/or Town. Should the Village and Town 
wish to approve such an opportunity, it must �rst amend 
the plan so that the decision is consistent with the plan.  
Such amendments should be carefully considered and 
should not become the standard response to proposals 
that do not �t the plan. Frequent amendments to meet 
individual development proposals threaten the integrity of 
the plan and the planning process and should be avoided. 

Any change to the plan goals, objectives, polices, programs 
or maps constitutes an amendment to the plan and must 
follow the adoption/amendment process described in 
this section.  Amendments may be proposed by either 
the Village  or Town Boards, Village or Town PCs, Joint Plan 
Commission, Village Sta�, Town sta� or Village or Town 
property owners.  Amendments may be made at any time 
using this process; however, in most cases the Village  and 
Town should not amend the plan more than once per year.   
A common and recommended approach is to establish 
a consistent annual schedule for consideration of minor 

plan amendments.  This process can begin with a meeting 
of the JPC (January), followed by JPC recommendation 
(February), then the 30-day public notice procedures 
leading to a public hearing and vote on adoption by the 
Village and Town Boards (March or April).

Wisconsin’s comprehensive planning statute (66.1001) 
requires that this plan be updated at least once every 
10 years.  Unlike an amendment, the plan update is a 
major re-write of the plan document and supporting 
maps.  The purpose of the update is to incorporate new 
data and ensure that the plan remains relevant to current 
conditions and decisions.  The availability of new Census 
or mapping data and/or a series of signi�cant changes 
in the community may justify an update after less than 
10 years.  Frequent requests for amendments to the plan 
should signal the need for a comprehensive update.

Page 7 of 13



88 W A U N A K E E  -  W E S T P O R T   / /   C O M P R E H E N S I V E  P L A N

PLAN CONSISTENCY &  
SE V ERABILITY
PLAN CONSISTENCY
Once formally adopted, the plan becomes a tool for 
communicating the Village’s and Town’s land use policies and 
for coordinating legislative decisions. Per the requirements 
of Wisconsin’s Comprehensive Planning Law, after January 
1, 2010, if a local government unit enacts or amends any of 
the following ordinances, the ordinance must be consistent 
with that local governmental unit’s comprehensive plan: 

• O�cial maps

• Local subdivision regulations

• General zoning ordinances

• Shoreland/wetland zoning ordinances

An action will be deemed consistent if:

• It furthers, or at least does not interfere with, the goals, 
objectives, policies and programs of this plan,

• It is compatible with the proposed future land uses and 
densities/intensities contained in this plan,

• It carries out, as applicable, any speci�c proposals for 
community facilities, including transportation facilities, 
other speci�c public actions, or actions proposed 
by nonpro�t and for-pro�t organizations that are 
contained in the plan. 

• The State of Wisconsin planning legislation requires 
that the implementation element describe how each 
of the nine-elements will be integrated and made 
consistent with the other elements of the plan.  Prior to 
adoption of the plan, the Village and Town reviewed, 
updated, and completed all elements of this plan 
together, and no inconsistencies were found.

SEVERABILITY 
If any provision of this Comprehensive Plan will be found 
to be invalid or unconstitutional, or if the application of 
this Comprehensive Plan to any person or circumstances 
is found to be invalid or unconstitutional by court of law, 
such invalidity or unconstitutionality will not a�ect the 
other provisions or applications of this Comprehensive 
Plan, which can be given effect without the invalid 
or unconstitutional provision or application.  If any 
requirement or limitation attached to an authorization 
given under this Comprehensive Plan is found invalid, it 
shall be presumed that the authorization would not have 
been granted without the requirement or limitation and, 
therefore, said authorization shall also be invalid.

Page 8 of 13



89C H A P T E R  6    / /    A C T I O N  P L A N

ACTION PLAN

The following section is a list of items for Waunakee and 
Westport to pursue jointly and independently over the 
next 10 years in order to implement the vision, goals, and 
objectives of this plan.  This list was developed from the 
policies and programs in Chapters 4 and 5.  These tables 
omit policies that provide guidance but do not require 
proactive e�ort by the Village and/or Town.

PRIORITIES AND TIMELINES
The action plan suggest approximately when each action 
should occur, within a ten-year timeframe.  This plan will 
be updated and new actions selected by the end of that 
period. Some of the actions in this plan require continual 
ongoning or annual e�ort.

Decisions regarding the timing, budgeting, and coordination 
of each action item will be made by the Village Board and 
Town Board, typically as part of the municipal budget 
setting process or the Comprehensive Plan Annual Report.  
This plan is intended to inform those annual processes, but 
not to compel completion of these actions.

MEASURING SUCCESS
There are multiple ways to track the Village’s and Town’s 
success in implementing this plan.  In some cases, success 
is evaluated based on whether a facility is built, a program 
is created (e.g. Silo Protection Program) or a study or zoning 
code amendment is completed. In other cases, success 
may be judged by degree to which change has occurred 
(or not occurred - some of the actions are intended to 
preserve current strenghts). Change can be measured both 
quantitatively (e.g. the  number of new business or jobs 
created since plan adoption) or qualitatively (e.g. degree to 
which residents are satis�ed with improvements).

Page 9 of 13



90 W A U N A K E E  -  W E S T P O R T   / /   C O M P R E H E N S I V E  P L A N

TARGET COMPLETION YEAR RESPONSIBLE PARTIES

HOUSING ACTIONS 2017-2019 2020-2025 2025-2035
Conduct a housing market analysis to evaluate 
in more detail the demand for various housing 
types in the Village and Town.

x Joint Planning 
Commission

Explore development of a housing 
rehabilitation program to help property 
owners maintain and rehabilitate older 
housing stock, particularly in the central 
portion of the Village.

x Village Plan 
Commission

TARGET COMPLETION YEAR RESPONSIBLE PARTIES

ECONOMIC PROSPERITY ACTIONS 2017-2019 2020-2025 2025-2035
Conduct a visioning process and prepare a 
master plan for the West Business District.

x

Village Administrator/
ED Director, Village 

Planning Commission, 
Village Board

Install streetscape enhancements that will 
help create an identity and unifying theme for 
Historic Downtown Waunakee and the Town 
Center.

x

Director of Public 
Works, Town 

Administrator, Village 
Board, Town Board

The Town will take an active role in business 
attraction, retention and growth, in 
coordination with the Village.

x x x Town Planning 
Commission

Develop a “Village Square” in the Village’s 
Historic Center that will serve as a central 
landmark and symbol of Waunakee’s historic 
traditions.

x

Village Administrator/ 
ED Director, Village 

Planning Commission, 
Village Board

Review design standards for the Waunakee 
Business Park to ensure that the standards 
allow use of the best available materials while 
also allowing property owners to manage 
construction costs e�ectively.

x

Village Economic 
Development 

Committee, Village Plan 
Commission

TARGET COMPLETION YEAR RESPONSIBLE PARTIES

AGRICULTURAL, NATURAL, CULTURAL & 
HISTORIC RESOURCES ACTIONS

2017-2019 2020-2025 2025-2035

Consider the creation of a stormwater utility 
to ensure sustainable funding for stormwater 
management tied equitably to the sources of 
stormwater runo�.

x x Public Works

Shared Action Plan

Page 10 of 13



91C H A P T E R  6    / /    A C T I O N  P L A N

TARGET COMPLETION YEAR RESPONSIBLE PARTIES
AGRICULTURAL, NATURAL, CULTURAL & 

HISTORIC RESOURCES ACTIONS
2017-2019 2020-2025 2025-2035

Protect linear open space corridors along 
Six Mile Creek and its tributary creeks and 
drainageways through a combination of public 
acquisition and land use regulations.

x x x Village & Town Boards

Create a Silo Protection Program to conserve 
historic and/or culturally signi�cant silos. x x x Village & Town Boards

Identify and map signi�cant agricultural 
viewsheds in the Town of Westport. x Town Planning 

Commission
Identify, inventory, and preserve cultural, 
historic and archeological sites. (Town: Develop 
a volunteer e�ort to assist in the identi�cation 
of historic and archeological sites.)

x x x

Village Planning 
Commission, Town 

Historic Preservation 
Committee

Adopt design guidelines for the traditional 
downtown that preserves the historic scale and 
character of Downtown Waunakee.

x Village Planning 
Commission

TARGET COMPLETION YEAR RESPONSIBLE PARTIES

COMMUNITY FACILITIES ACTIONS 2017-2019 2020-2025 2025-2035
Complete regional �ood protection and 
stormwater management plans and apply 
these to development proposals.

x x x Public Works, Planning 
Commissions

Share Capital Improvement Plans with adjacent 
communities to identify potential coordinated 
projects (i.e. roads, stormwater management, 
signage).

x x x Public Works Director

Complete and maintain utility master plans for 
each utility service that describes service area, 
levels of use, overall capacity and features a 
timetable for capital improvements.

x x x Public Works Director, 
Town Administrator

Shared Action Plan (continued...)

Page 11 of 13



92 W A U N A K E E  -  W E S T P O R T   / /   C O M P R E H E N S I V E  P L A N

TARGET COMPLETION YEAR RESPONSIBLE PARTIES

TRANSPORTATION ACTIONS 2017-2019 2020-2025 2025-2035
Maintain O�cial Maps as described by State 
Statutes 62.23(6) to identify and protect future 
road corridors.

x x x Village and Town 
Planning Commissions

Explore the feasibility of establishing a 
pedestrian ferry service across Lake Mendota, 
connecting Westport with downtown Madison.

x Town Planning 
Commission

Participate in local or regional e�orts 
to provide transit connections to the 
metropolitan transit systems in Madison and 
other Dane County communities.

x x x
Village Administrator/ 

ED Director, Town 
Administrator

The Town and Village support and will 
advocate for the development of a “North 
Mendota Parkway” or similar that carries 
regional tra�c away from neighborhoods and 
environmentally sensitive areas.

x x x

Village Board, 
Town Board, Village 

Administrator/ 
ED Director, Town 

Administrator
Develop more-detailed, area-speci�c land use 
and local roadway plans  for the CTH M and 
STH 113 corridors in coordination with future 
planning for the parkway.

x Town Planning 
Commission

TARGET COMPLETION YEAR RESPONSIBLE PARTIES

INTERGOVERNMENTAL COOPERATION 
ACTIONS

2017-2019 2020-2025 2025-2035

Pursue boundary agreements with the Towns 
of Vienna and Spring�eld

x

Village Administrator/
ED Director, Plan 

Commission, Village 
Board

Pursue a boundary agreement between the 
Town of Wesport and the Village of DeForest x

Town Administrator, 
Plan Commission, Town 

Board
TARGET COMPLETION YEAR RESPONSIBLE PARTIES

LAND USE ACTIONS 2017-2019 2020-2025 2025-2035
The Town and Village will establish and 
maintain similar design standards for 
development along the entrance corridor 
highways.

x x x Plan Commissions

Shared Action Plan (continued...)

Page 12 of 13



Page 13 of 13


